

Case study

Advanced squamous cell carcinoma of the thumb nail bed taken for onychomycosis: a case report

Abstract

Squamous cell carcinoma of the nail bed is a rare tumour, several risk factors are incriminated in the genesis of this tumour: microtrauma, x-rays, arsenic, dyskeratoses and infections (HPV). It is a slow-growing local tumour, often neglected and considered as an onychomycosis leading to local extension and sometimes distant metastasis. We present a new case of periungual carcinoma of the left thumb in a 65 year old patient with a 10 year history of onychomycosis which progressed to local bone extension requiring amputation of the thumb. The objective of this work is to recall the epidemiological, diagnostic and therapeutic particularities of this rare tumour, to insist on the practice of biopsy in front of any nail lesion in order to make the diagnosis and the management in time to avoid the local extension and the metastases.

Key words: carcinoma, nail, onychomycosis, finger, hand.

Introduction

Spinocellular carcinoma (SCC) of the nail bed is a rare tumour, first described by Velpeaux in 1850 (1), which is characterised by a slow local evolution with rare metastases (2). The diagnosis is sometimes difficult and is confused with infectious, mycotic or benign nail lesions, leading to local bone extension and sometimes metastasis. We report a new representative case of periungual SCC of the left thumb diagnosed at the stage of phalangeal bone extension requiring amputation. The objective of this work is to specify the etiological, diagnostic, evolutionary and therapeutic particularities of this lesion with a review of the literature.

Case presentation

Mr B.S, 65 years old, retired, right-handed, presented with a dystrophic lesion of the left thumb nail that had been evolving for 10 years and was treated as onychomycosis. The patient came to us with signs of peri-nail inflammation and pain in the thumb. The interrogation found the notion of repetitive microtraumas of the distal left thumb during the thumb-index pinch during his work.

The clinical examination showed a hyperkeratotic swelling of the left thumb, verrucous, budding, with a nail dystrophy (Fig1).

The radiograph showed bony involvement of the second phalanx of the left thumb (Fig. 2).

The extension workup showed no satellite adenopathies or other secondary locations.

The biopsy showed the presence of a well-differentiated infiltrating squamous cell carcinoma of the nail bed with matrix involvement and deep extension.

Comment [JFSC1]: what percentage of incidence? how many cases described in the literature?

Comment [JFSC2]:

Comment [JFSC3]: Retired is not a profession. It is important to know the profession of this patient to correlate with the etiological factors of the disease.

Comment [JFSC4]: which and how many clinical treatments have been performed previously

In view of the extension of the tumour and the bone involvement and the absence of distant metastases, we performed a curative treatment consisting of a trans-head amputation of P2 of the thumb (figure 3).

The evolution was good with healing after three weeks and good functional and aesthetic results. No local or distant recurrence was noted at the last follow-up.

Comment [JFSC5]: how long follow-up

DISCUSSION

Since the first description, a few isolated cases or small series of spino cellular carcinoma of the nail apparatus have been published.

Several aetiological factors are incriminated in the genesis of this tumour: traumatic (microtrauma), chronic or viral infections (HPV 16) (1); X-rays; chemical agents (arsenic) and dyskeratotic skin lesions (3, 4, 5).

Comment [JFSC6]: (3-5)

Nail bed SCC is a slow-growing, localized tumour. Bone invasion is rare and late, and lymphatic metastases are exceptional. A case of metastasis to the median nerve has been reported (6). Squamous cell carcinoma of the nail bed may be a secondary metastasis of another digestive tumour requiring a general examination for a primary tumour (7, 8)

The differential diagnosis is with dermatological conditions (kerato acanthoma, Bowen's disease) and infections such as perionyxis or paronychia (9).

The treatment is surgical, consisting of tumour removal with a 4-5 mm margin of removal (8). Amputation of the distal phalanx is indicated if there is bony involvement (10). Other conservative techniques have been practised; some authors perform controlled microscopic excision of MOHS (11, 12, 13, 14); radiotherapy is used for advanced cases or in cases where surgery is contraindicated. The residual tissue loss after excision can be resolved by directed wound healing, total skin grafting or reconstruction with local flaps, depending on the site, extent of tissue loss and exposure of underlying noble elements (15).

Comment [JFSC7]: What is this ?

The evolution is often favourable; recurrences are rare in relation to incomplete excision (16).

Conclusion

Periungual spinal cell carcinoma is a rare tumour with local malignancy.

Early diagnosis by systematic biopsy of dyskeratotic lesions or chronic periungual infections allows for carcinological surgical excision and avoidance of recurrence and metastases which are rare but serious.

Comment [JFSC8]: Conclusion:
According to the literature, it is a rare, slow-growing and local malignant tumor. Low percentage of regional or distant metastases.
Differential diagnosis with chronic infectious lesions through biopsy

Comment [JFSC9]: ????

References

1. Ronald L, Moy MD, Yehuda D et al. Human papillomavirus type 16 DNA in périungual squamous cell carcinomas. J Am Medic Assoc 1989; 261: 2669 – 2673.

2. [Sezgi Sarikaya Solak¹](#), [Nuray Can²](#), [Yildiz Gursel Urun¹](#), [Fatih Goktay](#) · Cutaneous Horn: A Very Rare Presentation of Nail Unit Squamous Cell Carcinoma. *Dermatol Surg.* 2021 Jul 1;47(7):999-1000.
3. Dobson CM, Azurdia RM, King C.M. Squamous all carcinoma arising in a proximal nail bed: case report with discussion difficulties and therapeutic options. *Br J Dermatol* 2002; 147 – 149
4. Mohamed Ali Sbai, Walid Balti, M. Boussen, S. Sallemi, Samia Chatti, Messaoud Tebib. [Le carcinome spino-cellulaire peri-ungueal : A propos d'un cas.](#) *La Tunisie Médicale* - 2009 ; Vol 87 (n°01) : 86-88..
5. Wong TC, Ip FK, Wu WC. Squamous cell carcinomas of the nail bed: three cases reports. *Orthop Surg* 2004; 12: 248 - 252
6. Canovas F, Dereure F, Bonnel F. A propos d'un cas de carcinome épidermoïde du lit unguéal avec métastase intra neurale du nerf médian. *Ann Chir Main* 1998; 17: 232 – 235.
7. Gallagher B, Yousef G, Bishop L. [Subungual metastasis from a rectal primary: case report and review of the literature.](#) *Dermatol Surg.* 2006;32(4):592-5.
8. Boldo E, Santafe A, Mayol A, Lozoya R, Coret A, Escribano D, Fortea-Sanchis C, Muñoz A, Pastor JC, Perez de Lucia G, Bosch N. [Rare Site Hepatocellular Carcinoma Metastasis.](#) *J Hepatocell Carcinoma.* 2020 ; 25;7:39-44.
9. Salasche SJ, Garland LD. Tumors of the nail. *Dermatol clinics* 1985; 3: 501- 519.
10. Thomas DJ, King AR, Peat BG. Excision margins for nonmelanotic skin cancer. *Plast Reconstr. Surg* 2003; 112: 57 – 63.
11. Berker DAR, Dahl MGC, Malolm AJ, Lawrence CM. Micrographic surgery for subungual squamous cell carcinoma. *Br J Plast Surg* 1996; 49: 414 – 19.
12. Al SA, Abou Chaar MK, Alkhatib AA, Al-Qawasmi M, Barham M, Yaser S, Salah S, Suleiman AAR, Asha W. Salvaging the Digit in Invasive Subungual Malignancies Using a Triple Technique under Awake Local Anesthesia. *Case Rep Orthop.* 2021; 30: 4648627.
13. Göktaş F, Aydıngöz İE, Güneş PG, Atış G. [Intraoperative dermoscopic patterns of subungual squamous cell carcinoma: A case report.](#) *Australas J Dermatol.* 2017;58(4):243-245.
14. Figus A, Kanitkar S, Elliot D. Squamous cell carcinoma of the lateral nail fold. *J. Hand Surg* 2006; 2: 216 – 220.
15. [Niall O'Dwyer¹](#), [Karen Olden¹](#), [Adrian J Cubbin¹](#), [Paul Hill¹](#), [Aileen Flavin¹](#), [Kathy Rock](#) . Subungual squamous cell carcinoma of the thumb - Implications for patient setup and radiotherapy planning. *Tech Innov Patient Support Radiat Oncol.* 2020 Dec 3;16:83-86.
16. Carroll R E. Squamous cell carcinoma of the nail bed. *Hand Surg* 1976; 1: 92 – 97.

Figures



Figure 1 : clinical aspect of the right thumb (pre-operative)



Figure 2 : X-Ray of the right thumb



Figure 3 : Clinical aspect of the right thumb (post- operative)